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Appearances: Timothy M Biddle, Esq., Crowell & Moring, Washington,
D.C., for the Contestant/Respondent; James E. Cul p, Esq.,
U.S. Departnent of Labor, Ofice of the Solicitor,
Phi | adel phi a, Pennsylvania for the Respondent/Petitioner.

Bef or e: Judge Maurer
STATEMENT OF THE CASE

These consol i dated cases are before nme under section 105(d) of the
Federal M ne Safety and Health Act of 1977, 30 U . S.C [0 801 et seq.,
(the Act) to challenge the validity of three [0104(d)(2) orders issued
to Mettiki on February 21, 1989, and for review of the civil penalties
proposed by the Secretary of Labor for the related violations.
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There is also an unrel ated and uncontested Order No. 3115408,
whi ch the Secretary also included in Docket No. YORK 89-52. Order
No. 3115408 was issued on March 1, 1989, pursuant to [0104(d)(2) of the
Act for a violation of 30 C.F. R [75.313-1. A penalty of $1000 was
originally assessed. However, the parties now agree that this order
should be nodified to delete the special finding of unwarrantability
and they have proposed by separate witten notion that | approve their
agreed settlement which reduces the civil penalty to $150 for this
particul ar vi ol ation.

Consi dering the representations submtted in the nmotion, | conclude
that the proffered settlenent is appropriate under the criteria set forth
in section 110(i) of the Act. Accordingly, the notion for approval of the
settlement with regard to Order No. 3115408 is granted and the respondent
will be ordered herein to pay the $150 civil penalty.

Pursuant to notice, these cases were heard in Mrgantown, West
Virginia on August 1 and 2, 1989. Both parties nave filed post-hearing
proposed findings of »act and conclusions of |aw, which | have considered
along with the entire record herein. | make the follow ng decision.

STI PULATI ONS
The parties have agreed to the follow ng stipulations, which | accept:
1. The Mettiki Mne is owned by contestant Mettiki Coal Corporation

2. The Mettiki Mne is subject to the jurisdiction of the Federa
M ne Safety and Health Act of 1977.

3. The undersigned Adm nistrative Law Judge has jurisdiction over
this proceedi ng pursuant to 0105 of the Act.

4. The subject orders, their term nation, and nodification were
properly served by duly authorized representatives of the Secretary of
Labor upon an agent of Mettiki on the dates, times, and places stated
therein, and may be adnmitted into evidence for purposes of establishing
their issuance without admtting the truthful ness or rel evance of any
statenment therein.

5. Mettiki had 720 assessed violations in the 24-nmonth period prior
to the i ssuance of the subject orders.

6. There has been no "clean" inspection of the Mettiki M ne
between the [0104(d) (2) orders at issue and the previous [0104(d) (1) order
No. 2701558, dated May 30, 1986.
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7. The violations alleged, if proved, were abated in good faith.

8. If the violations are proven, the inposition of civil penalties
based on the facts as required by Section 110(i) of the Act will not affect
Mettiki's ability to continue in business.

9. Respondent's annual coal production is 1,987,594 tons at the
Metti ki M ne.

I. Docket No. YORK 89-31-R;, Order No. 2944492

Order No. 2944492, issued pursuant to section 104(d)(2) of the Act,
all eges a violation of the regulatory standard at 30 C. F. R [O75.202(a) 1/
and charges as foll ows:

The coal ribs of an area where persons were required
to work and travel were not supported or otherw se
controlled to protect persons fromthe hazards rel ated
to falls or the rib. A fatal rib roll accident has
occurred in the No. 1 Entry of the 23 Butt Section
approximately thirty feet outby station No. B3109,
where belt hangers were being bolted to the roof.

Carl Johnson was the section foreman.

M. Nel son Bl ake, a m ning engi neer and roof control specialist
enpl oyed by MSHA since 1980, issued the above order on February 21, 1989,
following the investigation of a fatal rib roll accident which occurred
on February 17, 1989. Delnas Martin, a Mettiki enployee, was killed at
approximately 8:20 that evening in the No. 1 entry of the 23 Butt Section
of Mettiki's B Mne, between the No. 13 and No. 14 breaks.

The 23 Butt Section was originally developed in March of 1982 as a
return air course for Mettiki's main mne. The original roof support in
this section consisted of 6 foot resin roof bolts, installed 4 bolts to a
row, with rows on four foot centers. This roof-bolting was suppl emented
by cribbing on 7-foot centers w.tn about J feet of space between the rib
and the edge of the crib nearest the rib. At the time of the accident,
respondent was in the process of rehabilitating the No. 1 entry

1/ 30 C.F.R 0O75.202(a) provides as follows:

The roof, face and ribs of areas where persons work or travel shall be
supported or otherwi se controlled to protect persons from hazards rel ated
to falls of the roof, face or ribs and coal or rock bursts.
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for use as a headgate entry for a longwall panel. The inmediate work
bei ng done was renoving cribs as well as rib bolting while sinultaneously
installing belt hangers, and any necessary roof bolts. Just prior to the
accident, two mners (Delmas Martin and Dave Hol |l and) were installing belt
hangers and anot her was using the horizontal drill on the back of the

Fl et cher dual head bolter to install rib bolts.

At the tinme of the accident, the cribs had been renoved in the Nos. 1
and 2 Entries up to the No. 16 break. Mre specifically, the cribs between
the Nos. 13 and 14 breaks, where M. Martin was killed, were removed two to
»our days before the accident.

This mne has a history of rib roll accidents, including an earlier
fatality in 1984. The ribs in the 23 Butt Section consist of soft coa
beneath 2 feet of cap rock. M. Biddle stipulated that the ribs are soft
in this mne and that they have to be carefully watched and controll ed.
Due to the excessive weight of the coal (8 to 10 feet) and the softness
of the coal, the cap rock setting on top of the coal tends to crush the
coal out, causing the rock and the coal rib to fal!l out into the entry.
It is a known hazard in this nine. After the 1984 fatality, MSHA has
required rib bolting in the mne and that has reduced the incidence of
these rib rolls.

At the time of the accident, Delmas Martin was working with his
section foreman, Carl Johnson and David Holland. Martin and Hol | and were
installing belt hangers between the No. 13 and No. 14 crosscuts of the
No. 1 Entry of the 23 Butt Section. They were working near the front of
and on either side of the Fletcher dual head bolting nmachine operating the
root drills. Foreman Johnson was working at the rear of the machine, using
the horizontal drill to install rib bolts. Approximtely 30 seconds before
t he accident, Johnson wal ked from behind the roof bolter up the left side
of the machine to talk to Martin, looking at the left rib as he passed
between it and the nmachine. He noticed nothing hazardous about the rib
and Martin expressed no concern about it. He talked to Martin |less than a
m nute and then returned to the rear of the machine again via the left side
and began installing a bolt in the right-hand rib. At that instant, the
| eft-hand rib collapsed, and Martin was covered up by the falling debris.
Nei t her Johnson nor Hol | and heard any sounds or had any other warning that
the rib was about to fall

The investigation of the accident, conducted by M. Bl ake, reveal ed
that the rock brow and coal rib that fell nmeasured 41 feet in length. The
new y exposed roof line, created by the
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fallen cap rock ranged froma feather edge to 34 inches wi de and the cap
rock itself measured 18 to 27 inches thick. The specific piece of

| am nated rock and coal that. struck M. Martin measured approxi mately

5 1/2 feet long, 2 1/2 feet wide and 1 1/2 feet thick

M. Bl ake concl uded that the accident and the resulting fatality
occurred because an unsupported overhangi ng rock brow and coal rib was
not properly eval uated and taken down or supported. He also opined that
this brow woul d have been readily visible to a reasonabl e person

Anot her of the Secretary's witnesses, M. Barry Ryan, also a mning
engi neer, and a field office supervisor for MSHA agreed with Bl ake's
analysis. He participated in the investigation and al so cane to believe
that a brow was present prior to the accident. Furthernore, he was al so of
the opinion that the brow shoul d have been obvious to anyone in the area.

Their shared opinion is based largely, if not exclusively, on three
factors. First, portions of two painted red Iines were still visible on
the coal rib near the accident site after the rock and rib fell. Before
the accident, the ribs had vertical red |ines painted approximtely every
five feet, marking |ocations where rib bolts would be installed. Those two
remai ni ng paint marks indicated to Bl ake and Ryan that that was where the
original rib line was | ocated. Prior to the fall or rib roll, the paint
mar ks had extended ali the way to the cap rock on the rib and after the
fall the top if the paint marks were approxi mately one foot bel ow the cap
rock. Secondly, they also felt that there was insufficient coal present on
the floor after the accident conpared with the anount of fallen rock for
the coal rib to have extended far enough into the entry to have obscured
the vast majority of the rock brow Thirdly, the large size of the fallen
rock material was another factor which |ed themto conclude that an obvious
over hangi ng brow had to have existed before the accident.

M. Bl ake al so opined in his accident investigation report that
"[matching the old roof line to the coal pillar indicates that an
over hanging coal rib and/or brow was present."”

There really is no dispute that a rib or brow fell on and killed
Del mas Martin. Nor is it disputed that any reasonabl e person
know edgeabl e about roof and rib control would recognized an overhangi ng
brow as a hazardous condition and not work under it or permt work under
it until it was renoved, control!ed or supported.
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The issue squarely presented for decision then is whether or not an
over hangi ng brow was present and observable prior to the accident.

The issue of liability for violations of the roof and rib contro
standards, nore particularly, the standard' s requirenment that the roof
and ribs be supported or controlled, is resolved by reference to whet her
a reasonably prudent person, famliar with the mning industry and the
protective purpose of the standard, would have recogni zed that the roof
or ribs were not adequately supported or otherw se controlled. Canon Coa
Co., 9 FMSHRC 667,668 (April 1987); Quinland Coals, Inc., 9 FMSHRC 1614,
1617- 18 (Septenmber 1987). Cf. Ozark-Mahoney Co., 8 FMSHRC 190, 191-92
(February 1986); Great Western Electric Co., 5 FMSHRC 840, 841-42 (May
1983). Put another way, were there any objective signs existent prior to
t he accident that would have or should have alerted a reasonably prudent
person to the danger or even the existence of an overhanging brow? |If
there were, then that brow should have been taken down or supported and
the failure to do so would constitute a violation of the cited standard.

The Secretary subnmits that there was an overhangi ng brow present
before the accident which was readily observable. As support for this
al l egation, she offered the factual and ultimately the opinion testinony
of M. Blake and M. Ryan. Blake and Ryan are both m ni ng engi neers and
have extensive experience in underground coal mnes. The Secretary urges
that they be accepted as experts and | do acknow edge their expertise.
Their theory, based on the factors | enunerated earlier in this opinion,
is certainly a plausible one. However, the weakness in the Secretary's
case besides the fact that she has the burden of proof lies in the fact
that the acceptance of the Bl ake/ Ryan theory requires the rejection of
all the eyewitness, on-site testinony in the record.

Most significantly it would require me to outright reject as
incredible the two nost inportant percipient witnesses' testinony about
the accident; the two men who were working with Del mas Martin at the tine
he was killed. David Holland, a mner with 10 years experience at MettiKki
was a co-worker of Martin's. He was working on the other side of the roof
bolter with Martin at the tinme of the accident. Concerning the condition
of the accident site the day before the accident M. Holland testified at
Tr. 286:

Q Do you recall whether there was a brow present
along the left-hand side of the rib between 13 and
14 crosscut?

A No.
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Q You do not recall or there was no brow?

No brow.
As to the day of the accident he testified at Tr. 290-92:

Q Did you exami ne the ribs between 13 and 14 crosscut
before you started working beside then?

A. Yes.
VWhat method did you use?
Vi sual

Q

A

Q Why did you exam ne the rib?
A To make sure they was safe.
Q

. Did you discover any hazard in the area where you
wer e wor ki ng?

A. No.

Q Do you know if M. Martin exam ned the ribs beside hinf
A Yes.

Q How do you know?

A. I seen himlooking at it.

Q How | ong before the accident occurred did you see that?
A Five, ten m nutes.

Q WAs there a brow on M. Martin's side?

A. No.

* * * * * * *

Q Are you aware that after the accident there was a paint

mark left on the rib on the | eft-hand side near the
acci dent area?

A Yes.
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Q And you say there was no brow, is that correct?

A. That is correct.

Q If there was no brow, how can you explain the paint
mark that was left on the rib after the rib fell?

A. Well, on those ribs the ribs is curved, and your top
mght -- well, the coal in the mddle is real soft and
it will kind of work out a little bit. Al your rib
lines go like this (indicating) to the bottom and
there was a good bit of coal underneath the rock
There wasn't no brow.

Q Would you tell us what a brow is in your understanding
of it?

A. Overhanging rock or coal

Q Was there any requirement that you know of from anyone
dealing with brows? What do you do when there is a
br ow?

A We pull it down; or if it is too big, we get a scoop
and knock it down.

Q \Wy?
A. So to be safe.

At the end of his direct testinony, | again questioned himregarding
this inportant issue and he responded at Tr. 295:

JUDGE MAURER: M. Holland, in the five or ten nmnutes
before this accident did you have an occasion to | ook at that
|l eft-hand side rib, the rib that feel in on M. Mrtin?

THE W TNESS: Yes, | did.

JUDGE MAURER: You didn't see anything untoward there
what soever ?

THE WTNESS: No, nothing. There was nothing.

Even nore dramatic was the testinony of foreman Carl (Randy) Johnson.
He has nineteen years of underground coal nining experience, eleven of
those years with Mettiki. On the day of the accident, he was the section
foreman of the crew of nen, including Delmas Martin, who were doing
rehabilitation work in the 23 Butt Section to establish a belt line for a
| ongwal | panel
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Johnson perforned pre-shift and onshift exam nations of the affected
area on each of the two days inmediately preceding the accident as wel
as the accident date itself and observed no hazardous rib conditions and
detected no overhanging coal rib and/or brow

| medi ately before the fall, he hinmself was standi ng next to Del mas
Martin. He described the incident in his testinony at Tr. 244-246:

Q VWhen was the last tine you were along that rib before
it fell, if you can recall?
A The last tine | was [along] that rib was approxi mately

30 seconds before it fell

* * * * * * *

| was rib bolting, and I had wal ked up to the side to talk to
Del mas.

* * * * * * *

Q When you wal ked up to talk to M. Martin which way did
you go?

A I conme from behind the roof bolter to the |left side and
come up to talk to him

* * * * * * *

Q At that time did he express any concern about the rib
that you had just passed beside?

A No, he did not.

Q Did you notice anything about that rib that caused you
any concern?

A No, | did not.
Did you look at that rib as you wal ked up there?
Yes, | did.

Why did you | ook at the rib?

> O > O

. It is conmon practice to | ook at the ribs when you go
in past the machines. You always |ook at the ribs.
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Q How Il ong did you talk to M. Martin?

A It was |l ess than a m nute.
Q Then what happened?

A I come back to the back end of the bolter.

* * *x K* K * %

[Alnd started installing the bolt on the right-hand rib

* *x * *x * % *

I was drilling the hole when the roof cone in.

As section foreman of this area, as well as the m ne exam ner, Randy
Johnson woul d have been primarily responsible for detecting any overhangi ng
brow that was there. | have heard his testinony, observed himat the tria
and re-read the transcript of his testinmony. | find it hard to believe
that he would work and wal k al ongside that rib under an observabl e brow.

He was standing right next to Martin talking to himless then a mnute
before the fall. | doubt very nuch he woul d have been doing so had he
known there was an unsupported overhangi ng rock brow over his head.

He certainly had inspected this area many tines in the days and hours,
even minutes before the accident. Just as certainly, he knows what an
over hangi ng rock brow | ooks Iike as well as the danger involved in working
under or near such a thing. He also knows the only acceptable practice in
such an instance is to either support the brow or take it down. | would
say that his presence alongside Martin in the mnute or mnutes before the
acci dent speaks |ouder than words. It says to ne that he didn't know he
was standi ng under a 41-foot |ong overhanging rock brow. |If we give him
the fact that he knows a brow when he sees one, it is a reasonable
inference that if there was a brow there, it was not observable by visua
means.

In support of the testinony of the two eyewi tnesses, there is also the
testi mony of several other Mettiki enployees who were in the accident area
prior to the fall

The m ne foreman, Allen Rohrbaugh, testified that he spent an average
of four hours per day in the No. 1 Entry of the 23 Butt Section during the
week the accident occurred. He observed the rib conditions between the
Nos. 13 and 14 crosscuts on the
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day of the accident and saw no brow present or any other problemwth the
rib that fell

M. Thomas, who was the foreman on the night shift in the 23 Butt
Section on the day of the accident also testified. He had perforned
two onshift exam nations and a preshift exam nation the night prior to
the accident. These exam nations included visual exam nation of the
ri bs between Nos. 13 and 14 crosscuts. He |ikew se observed no brow

Wl liam D. Baumann conducted two onshift exam nations and a preshift
exam nation of the area between Nos. 13 and 14 crosscuts on the date of
the accident. He testified there was no visible brow present.

M. Joseph E. Peck is and was at all times pertinent, Mettiki's
Safety Coordinator. At the hearing, he produced and testified fromhis
wor k notes that he acconpani ed MSHA | nspector Calvert through the No. 1
Entry of the 23 Butt Section on February 1, 7, 8, 9 and 15, of 1989,

i ncluding the area between the Nos. 13 and 14 crosscuts. Like everyone
el se, Peck observed no overhangi ng brow or any other indication that
the rib in that area may have been | oose. Neither, apparently, did

I nspector Calvert see any such conditions or presumably, he would have
pointed it out. However, the Secretary correctly points out that any
such observations or |ack of observation nust be evaluated fromthe
standpoint that relatively large cribs were present in the area unti

ei ther February 15th or 16th. The inspector, and for that matter,

M. Peck, never saw the area between the tinme the cribs were renoved
and the accident occurred.

The Secretary has offered no direct evidence, such as eyew t ness
testi mony, for exanple, that a visible brow existed prior to the accident.
Instead, the Secretary relies entirely on the Bl ake/Ryan theory that an
over hangi ng rock brow nmust have existed and nobst assuredly was visible
prior to the accident. This theory and its supporting factors were
di scussed earlier in this decision and as | have said it is quite plausible
but certainly not a scientific fact. Possibly it existed, was visible, and
shoul d have been observed and renpved or supported, just as they theorize.
However, there was a defense presented based on eyew tness testinony that
contradicts the ultimate finding they made. Six Mettiki enployees who
repeatedly observed and exanined the ribs in the accident area in the days
and hours before the accident testified unequivocably that there was no
brow or any ot her hazardous condition that would have put them on notice
that there was a rock brow exi stent that needed to be supported or taken
down. | can find no reason to discredit their testinony and therefore
conclude that the Secretary has failed to satisfy her burden of
denmonstrating that Metti ki should have
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recogni zed the exi stence of a hazardous roof or rib condition and
corrected it. Specifically, I find that Mettiki cannot be successfully
charged with the knowl edge that a hazardous condition existed prior to
the accident. The Secretary's theory that a pre-accident visible brow
existed is contradi cted and outwei ghed by the unrebutted eyew t ness
testimony of the Mettiki witnesses, all of them experienced m ners, who
saw no such brow despite conducti ng nunmerous visual exam nations of the
ribs and roof in this Section.

| therefore conclude that the Secretary has failed to prove a
violation of 30 CF. R [O75.202(a). Order No. 2944492 will accordingly
be vacated.

1. Docket No. YORK 89-32-R Order No. 2944493

Order No. 2944493, issued pursuant to section 104(d)(2) of the Act,
alleges a violation of the regulatory standard at 30 C.F. R [O75.211(a) 2/
and charges as foll ows:

A proper examination of the coal ribs was not nade
before work was started on the 23 Butt Section. A
fatal rib roll accident has occurred in the No. 1 Entry
of the 23 Butt Section, approximately 30 feet outby
station No. B3109 where belt hangers were being bolted
to the roof. Carl Johnson was the section foreman.

The parties agree that a proper exam nation of the rib area would
entail a visual evaluation of the rib over an extended area, |ooking for
any hazardous conditions such as gapped or | oose material or overhangi ng
brows. They also agree that it is possible to make a proper exam nation
and still have the rib fall out.

However, having said that, it appears to ne that the only basis upon
which this particular order was issued was the fact that there was a fal
and a man was killed. That is plainly an insufficient basis upon which to
prove the charged violation.

On the other side, Mettiki has denonstrated to ny satisfaction that
regul ar preshift and onshift visual exam nations of the ribs in the
accident area were conducted by certified and qualified personnel as nore
fully set out earlier in this decision.

2/ 30 C.F.R [O75.211(a) provides as follows:

A visual exami nation of the roof, face and ribs shall be nmade i medi ately
before any work is started in an area and thereafter as conditions warrant.
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As | found in the earlier docket, the preponderance of the available
evi dence just does not support the Secretary's necessary prem se that an
obvi ous overhangi ng brow was present in the area.

Accordingly, Order No. 2944493 will |ikew se be vacat ed.
[11. Docket No. YORK 89-33-R; Order No. 2944494

Order No. 2944494, issued pursuant to section 104(d)(2) of the Act,
alleges a violation of the regulatory standard at 30 C.F. R [75.220 (the
roof control plan standard) and charges as foll ows:

The approved roof control plan is not being conplied
with on the 23 Butt Section. At numerous |ocations
t hroughout the No. 1 Entry, rib bolts have been
installed without the end of the board as close to
the roof as possible as required by pages 15 and 16
of the approved roof control plan. The ends of the
boards neasured 20 inches to 30 inches fromthe roof
line at several locations. At the accident site, the
di stance between the last two rib bolts measured

9.4 feet. The approved plan requires a six foot

maxi mum spaci ng on rib bolts.

On February 1, 1989, prior to starting the rehabilitation work in
the 23 Butt Section, Mettiki filed a Rehabilitation Plan wth MSHA.
MSHA approved the plan on February 3, 1989, and included it in Mettiki's
previ ousl y-approved Roof Control Plan. The Rehabilitation Plan itself
speaks to rib-bolting only in a perfunctory manner. It does not in and
of itself explain with any particularity howthis rib-bolting is to be
done other than to articul ate what the maxi mum spacing shall be in two
di fferent height areas. However, the Roof Control Plan, of which I find
the Rehabilitation Plan is a part, requires rib bolts to be installed on
si x-foot maxi mum centers "as close to the roof as possible"

Metti ki argues that the Roof Control Plan clearly states that it
applies only to areas devel oped after May 31, 1984; whereas the 23 Butt
Section was devel oped between Cctober 1981 and March 1982.

Neverthel ess, | agree with the Secretary's argunment that when a
clear definition of exactly what work is required by a sub-part of a
docunent is not included in that piece of the plan, the next |ogical step
is to look to the entire docunent for direction. Therefore, | conclude
that the rib bolts in the 23 Butt Section had to be installed on 6-foot
maxi mum centers with rib boards placed "as close as possible to the roof".
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Actually Mettiki came pretty close to doing that. They were in
the process of installing rib bolts and boards in the No. 1 Entry of
23 Butt Section when the accident occurred. The rib bolts and boards
outby the area of the accident were installed on five-foot centers. |
think it is clear that their intention was to install all the bolts on
five-foot centers. On the day of the accident, Martin and Hol | and had
pai nted marks at 5-foot intervals along the ribs of the No. 1 Entry to
mar k the horizontal spacing for the rib bolts that were being installed as
the rehabilitation work progressed up the entry. It was their practice,
however, to sinultaneously install belt hangers and rib bolts on ten-foot
centers as the hanger installation progressed. Then, when the crew reached
the next crosscut, they would come back and install an additional rib bolt
bet ween every two, resulting in a five-foot space between each bolt and
board.

At the time the accident occurred, the last two rib bolts that had
been installed along the left rib were spaced 9.4 feet apart. | believe
the crew had intended to cone back and install the missing bolt and board
but the accident intervened. The subsequent accident investigation found
themin that configuration and | find that to be a violation of the Roof
Control Plan and the cited standard.

Wth regard to the placenent of the rib boards, |I also find that
aspect of the installation to be a violation of the Roof Control Plan and
the cited standard. | find credible the Mettiki testinony to the effect
that the rib bolts thensel ves were installed as high as possible using a
normal |y configured bolting machine with its rib drill at the maximum "up"
angl e, but they could sinply have used | onger boards.

There is no evidence that the | ocation of the rib boards in the No. 1
Entry or the interval between the |ast two bolts caused the accident or in
any way contributed to it. Nonetheless, for the reasons that follow, |
find this to be a significant and substantial violation

A "significant and substantial" violation is described in section
104(d) (1) of the Mne Act as a violation "of such nature as could
significantly and substantially contribute to the cause and effect of a
coal or other mine safety or health hazard.” 30 C F. R [0814(d)(1). A
violation is properly designated significant and substantial "if, based
upon the particular facts surrounding the violation there exists a
reasonabl e |ikelihood that the hazard contributed to will result in an
injury or illness of a reasonably serious nature." Cenent Division
Nat i onal Gypsum Co., 3 FMSHRC 822, 825 (April 1981).
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In Mathies Coal Co., 6 FMSHRC 1, 3-4 (January 1984), the Comn ssion
explained its interpretation of the term "significant and substantial” as
fol |l ows:

In order to establish that a violation of a mandatory
safety standard is significant and substantial under
Nati onal Gypsum the Secretary of Labor nust prove:

(1) the underlying violation of a mandatory safety
standard; (2) a discrete safety hazard--that is, a
measure of danger to safety contributed to by the
violation; (3) a reasonable likelihood that the hazard
contributed to will result in an injury; and (4) a
reasonabl e likelihood that the injury in question wll
be of a reasonably serious nature.

In United States Steel M ning Conpany, Inc., 7 FMSHRC 1125, 1129
(August 1985), the Conmi ssion stated further as foll ows:

We have expl ained further that the third el ement of
the Mathies forrmula "requires that the Secretary
establish a reasonabl e |likelihood that the hazard
contributed to will result in an event in which
there is an injury.” US. Steel Mning Co., 6 FMSHRC
1834, 1836 (August 1984). We have enphasi zed that,
in accordance with the | anguage of section 104(d)(1),
it is the contribution of a violation to the cause
and effect of a hazard that nust be significant and
substantial. U'S. Steel M ning Conpany, Inc.

6 FMSHRC 1573, 1574-75 (July 1984).

The question of whether any particular violation is significant
and substantial nust be based on the particular facts surrounding the
violation, including the nature of the mne invol ved, Secretary of
Labor v. Texasgulf, Inc., 10 FMSHRC 498 (April 1988); Youghi ogheny &
Ohi o Coal Company, 9 FMSHRC 2007 (Decenber 1987).

The post-accident inspection turned up approximately thirty rib
boards placed 20 to 30 inches bel ow the roof and not touching the cap
rock in a 1200 foot area in the No. 1 Entry. The purpose of installing
these boards is to assist in controlling both the coal rib and the cap
rock above it. The installation of the boards bel ow the cap rock could
allow the cap rock to roll out and possibly strike persons working or
wal king near the rib line. | amconvinced that this would be a
reasonably |ikely occurrence. |If it occurred, and anyone was there, a
serious injury or fatality would be very |ikely.

In Hal fway, I|ncorporated, 8 FMSHRC 8, 13 (January 1986), the
Commi ssi on upheld a significant and substantial finding
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concerning a roof area which had not been supported with suppl enmenta
support, and ruled that a reasonable |ikelihood of injury existed despite
the fact that miners were not directly exposed to the hazard at the precise
nonent of the inspection. |In that case, the Conmi ssion stated as follows
at 8 FMSHRC 12:

[T]he fact that a miner may not be directly exposed

to a safety hazard at the precise nonment that an

i nspector issues a citation is not determ native of
whet her a reasonable |ikelihood for injury existed.
The operative tinme frame for making that determn nation
nmust take into account not only the pendency of the
violative condition prior to the citation, but also
conti nued normal mning operations. National Gypsum
supra, 3 FMSHRC at 825; U.S. Steel Mning Co., Inc.

6 FMSHRC 1573, 1574 (July 1984).

In view of the foregoing findings and concl usions, | conclude and
find that the violation was significant and substantial, and the
inspector's finding in this regard will therefore be affirnmed.

The Secretary al so submits that the violation was the result of an
unwarrant abl e failure.

In several relatively recent decisions concerning the interpretation
and application of the term"unwarrantable failure," the Comm ssion has
further refined and explained this term and concluded that it neans
"aggravated conduct, constituting nore than ordinary negligence, by a
m ne operator in relation to a violation of the Act." Enmery Mning
Corporation, 9 FMSHRC 1997 (Decenber 1987); Youghi ogheny & Ohi o Coa
Conpany, 9 FMSHRC 2007 (Decenber 1987); Secretary of Labor v. Rushton
M ni ng Conpany, 10 FMSHRC 249 (March 1988). Referring to its prior
holding in the Enmery M ning case, the Conmi ssion stated as follows in
Youghi ogheny & Chio, at 9 FMSHRC 2010:

W stated that whereas negligence is conduct that

is "inadvertent," "thoughtless" or "inattentive,"
unwar r ant abl e conduct is conduct that is described

as "not justifiable" or "inexcusable.” Only by
construing wunwarrantable failure by a m ne operator
as aggravated conduct constituting nore than ordinary
negl i gence, do unwarrantable failure sanctions assune
their intended distinct place in the Act's enforcenent
schene.

The maj or reason the Secretary gives for the "unwarrantability" of
this violation is that the cited condition had existed
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for a two-week period and covered a substantial area that was regularly

i nspected. | don't think there is any doubt that Mettiki management

saw the viol ative condition concerning the rib boards and knew of the
practice of initially installing the rib bolts on 10-foot centers and
then going back and filling in. The real problemis that they didn't
recogni ze these situations as violations. The next question is should
they have, and | conclude that they should have. But this is ordinary
negl i gence, not aggravated conduct in ny opinion. Reasonable persons
think could differ as to what exactly the Roof Control Plan requires with
regard to rib-bolting. | found the Roof Control Plan requires Mettiki to
install rib bolts and boards "as close to the roof as possible", but there
is no explanation in the plan as to what exactly that means vis-a-vis the
cap rock, which seens to be the sine qua non of the Secretary's conpl aint.
Nor is there any specific requirement for installing the rib bolts in any
particular order as long as they finally get installed on 6-foot nmaxi num
centers. The violation in the case at bar is that they didn't.

Accordingly, the inspector's unwarrantable failure finding will be
vacated and the contested section 104(d)(2) order nodified to a section
104(a) citation, with special significant and substantial findings.

For the reasons stated above, | conclude and find that the violation
was serious and resulted from Mettiki's failure to exerci se reasonable care
to make sure it was conplying with its Roof Control Plan. This amunts to
ordi nary negli gence.

On the basis of the foregoing findings and concl usi ons, and taking
into account the requirements of section 110(i) of the Act, | conclude
and find that a civil penalty of $400 is reasonable and appropriate to
the violation found.

ORDER

1. Section 104(d)(2) Order Nos. 2944492 and 2944493 are vacated and
MSHA' s rel ated civil penalty proposals are rejected.

2. Section 104(d)(2) Order Nos. 2944494 and 3115408 are hereby
nmodi fied to "S&S" section 104(a) citations and affirmed as such

3. Mettiki Coal Corporation is ordered to pay the sumof $550 within
30 days of the date of this decision as a civil penalty for the violations
found herein.

Roy J. Maurer
Adm ni strative Law Judge
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Timothy M Biddle, Esq., Crowell & Mring, 1001 Pennsylvania Avenue, N W,
Washi ngton, D.C. 20004 (Certified Mil)

James E. Culp, Esq., Ofice of the Solicitor, U S. Departnment of Labor,
Room 14480- Gat eway Buil di ng, 3535 Market St., Phil adel phia, PA 19104
(Certified Mail)



